Statement of Issuesv
Statement of the Case
Summary of Argument7
Law and Argument
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836 (Miss. 2005)
Caston v. State, 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002)
Collier v. State, 711 So.2d 458 (Miss. 1998)
Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038 (1973)
Dilworth v. State, 909 So.2d 731 (Miss. 2005)
Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180 (Miss. 1998)
Flowers v. State, 842 So.2d 531 (Miss. 2003))
Gray v. State, 926 So.2d 961 (Miss.App. 2006)23
Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197 (Miss. 1992)22
Grifffith v. State, 584 So.2d 383 (Miss. 1991)
Harris v. State, 901 S.2d 1277 (Miss.App. 2004)
Hart v. State, 637 So.2d 1329 (Miss. 1994)
Hickson v. State, 472 So.2d 379, 385-86 (Miss. 1985)24
Jackson v. State, 766 So.2d 795 (Miss.App. 2000)
Murphy v. State, 453 So.2d 1290, 1294 (Miss. 1984)
Quimby v. State, 604 So.2d 741 (Miss. 1992)
Riley v. State, 797 So.2d 285 (Miss. 2001)
Smith v. State, 925 So.2d 825 (Miss.App. 2006)
State v. Saltz, 551 S.E.2d 240 (S.C. 2001))
Stringer v. State. 500 So 2d 928 (Miss. 1986)

Todd v. State, 806 So.2d 1086 (Miss. 2001)
United States v. Akitoye, 923 F.2d 221 (1st Cir. 1991)
United States v. Edwards, 154 F.3d 915 (9th Cir. 1998)
United States v. Freitag, 230 F.3d 1019 (7th Cir. 2000)
United States v. Geston, 299 F.3d 1130 (9th Cir. 2002)
United States v. Hermanek, 289 F.3d 1076 (9th Cir. 2002)
United States v. Hinton, 31 F.3d 817(9th Cir. 1994)
United States v. Jae Shik Cha, 97 F.3d 1462 (9th Cir. 1996)
United States v. Richter, 826 F.2d 206 (2d Cir. 1987)
Wells v. State, 849 So.2d 1231 (Miss. 2003)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The prosecution committed misconduct in having the witnesses vouch for the truthfulness of the complainants' allegations of statutory rape.
- 2. The trial court erred in refusing to allow the defense to play a prior consistent statement made by Wakevia Hill.
- 3. The trial court erred in allowing the prosecution to cross-examine Wakevia with her grand jury testimony where that testimony was not provided to the defendant.
- 4. The trial court erred in allowing the prosecution to elicit hearsay.
- 5. The prosecution committed misconduct when it vouched for their case during closing argument.
- 6. The evidence is insufficient to support the verdict or, in the alternative, the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.
- 7. The errors taken together are cause for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The indictment:

Arthur Woods was indicted on two counts of statutory rape. CP. 1. He was alleged to have had sex with Wakevia Hill and Latricia Palmer on October 15, 2003. CP. 1; RE. 18. At that time, Wakevia was fourteen years old (she would be fifteen on December 18, 2003) and Latricia was fifteen (she would be sixteen on November 22, 2003). T. 202.

The trial:

The trial commenced in January 2005.

The case began with a note intercepted by a teacher. Susan Bailey teaches eighth grade science classes at Amanda Elzey High School in Greenwood. T. 143. She testified that on October 15, 2003, she intercepted a note being passed between Wakevia Hill and Latricia Palmer. T. 145. When she was finally able to read it, it disturbed her and when Wakevia's mother, who worked at the school, approached her on another matter, Bailey showed her the note. T. 149. On cross-examination, Ms. Bailey admitted that she has taken notes from students in her twenty-four years of teaching and that it is impossible to know whether what students have written represents truth or fantasy. T. 150-151.

Betty Brown is the girlfriend of Latricia's father. T. 152. In October, 2003, she received a phone call from Wakevia's mother, Juanita Hill. T. 154-154. After they got off the phone, Juanita and Wakevia came to Betty's house and

showed her the note. T. 164. After she read the note, Betty called the sheriff. T. 155. Both Latricia and Wakevia were crying. T. 156.

Betty testified that Arthur Woods lives across the street. T. 157. She never saw Latricia or Wakevia having sex with him. T. 157. But since that day, Latricia "ain't never herself." T. 157.

James Nichols is Latricia's father. He testified that in October of 2003,

Juanita Hill came to their house and brought a note for them to look at. T. 167.

Latricia was acting nervous and crying. T. 168. After seeing the note, they called the sheriff. T. 169.

Leflore County Sheriff's Deputy Donald Radford testified that on October 15, 2003, he responded to a call about a possible rape. T. 172. When he arrived at the house where one of the complainants lived, he was shown a note. T. 174. The two girls were crying and acting like they had been caught doing something. T. 175. Later, Radford took Arthur Woods into custody. T. 177.

Sheriff's Department Investigator Theodore White testified that the alleged statutory rape was alleged to have taken place at the house of Arthur Woods in Greenwood. T. 183. At that time, Woods was 52 years old and is sometimes known as Honda Joe or Motorcycle Joe. T. 184, 185.

White also took a statement from Wakevia Hill. T. 185. Wakevia appeared upset and embarrassed when he took her statement. T. 186. Latricia Palmer was so upset, she could not give a statement. T. 187.

Wakevia Hill, seventeen at the time of her testimony, testified that she has been friends with Latricia Hill since second grade. T. 203. In October 2003, her mother allowed her to spend the night at Latricia's house. T. 205. That night, she and Latricia went to Mr. Woods' house to watch television. T. 206. Wakevia testified that she did not have sex with Arthur Woods. T. 217. She admitted that she had given a statement that she and Latricia did have sex with him. T. 217. According to Wakevia, when she and Latricia went to Arthur's, they were accompanied by Willie Ray and Curtis. T. 229. She did not mention them in her statement, though. T. 230. A few days before the trial, she gave a taped statement to the defense denying that she had had sex with Woods. T. 232.

On cross, Wakevia explained that when she wrote the note taken by Ms. Bailey, she had just been playing. T. 236. She told her mother that the note was not true but her mother began to put pressure on her to say otherwise. T. 236. In the note she said she was worried about being pregnant because he "had cum" in her. T. 237. But in the statement, she told investigators that he had put on a rubber before they had sex. *Id.* Her mother told her after the letter was found that she would beat her if she didn't say that she had sex with Arthur Woods. T. 242.

Latricia Palmer was sixteen at the time of her testimony. On October 10, 2003, she was a few months shy of fifteen. T. 260. At trial, she testified that she and Wakevia were best friends in October, 2003. T. 261. Latricia testified that she had sex with Joe but did not want to testify against him. T. 266. On that

night in October, 2003, Wakevia came to her house to spend the night. They walked across the street to Joe's (Arthur's) house. T. 267. They sat in the kitchen and watched tv. T. 268. Willie Ray and Curtis knocked on the door. T. 267. Latricia stated that she did not know whether Willie Ray and Curtis stayed or whether they left. T. 268. Joe came into the kitchen and then they went to Joe's bedroom and were watching tv. T. 269. Joe then had sex with her and then with Wakevia. T. 270. He had sex with each of them twice. T. 270. Later Latricia told Willie Ray that she did not want anything to happen to Joe so Willie Ray got her in touch with Joe's investigator. T. 272. She gave a taped statement to the investigator saying that Joe did not touch her. T. 272. Latricia testified that she loves Joe and does not want anything to happen to him. T. 273. Joe has told her that if she ever needed anything, he would be there for her. T. 274. She did not like it that Joe had sex with Wakevia. T. 273. When she told Joe that, he said "hump". T. 276. She told Joe that Wakevia claimed that she told him no and that Joe had pulled her pants down. T. 276-77. Joe said that Wakevia pulled her own pants down. T. 277. In the note, Latricia stated that she was "going to start calling Bo to fuck me." T. 278. Joe, Latricia testified, was always saying that he did not want a baby by a young girl. T. 279.

On cross-examination, Latricia admitted telling Wakevia that if she did not testify against Joe, her parents would put her out of the house. T. 291. She also admitted telling the defense investigator that she never had sex with Arthur Woods. T. 312. When she denied having ever told the investigator that she had

not had sex with anyone over the age of 30, the defense played that part of her taped statement in which she said that the oldest person she had ever had sex with was thirty years old. T. 316. Latricia also signed a sworn statement saying that she had not had sex with Arthur Woods. T. 320.

The prosecution rested and the defense made a motion for directed verdict. The trial court granted the motion with respect to Count 1, statutory rape of Wakevia Hill. T. 337.

Wakevia's mother Juanita Hill testified on behalf of Arthur Woods. T. 342. She was shown a note by Ms. Bailey when she went to the school to pick up her daughter's report card. T. 342. The note made her upset and she went home and confronted her daughter who was sick in the bed. T. 342. She asked Wakevia what the note meant and Lakevia told her that nothing had happened. Juanita hounded her daughter until she finally gave up and said "you told me if I told you and said this happened, you would leave - you would leave me alone - you would leave it alone." T. 343. After she told Juanita that something had happened, though, Wakevia became depressed. On New Years Day, Wakevia told Juanita that she was not going to go to court and lie on Arthur Woods because it wasn't true, Juanita had pressured her into saying it. T. 344. This reminded Juanita of when Latricia told Juanita that nothing had happened to her or Wakevia but that Latricia's stepmother told Latricia that if she didn't come to trial and say that that man had sex with her, they would put Latricia out. Latricia told Juanita, "I don't have anywhere to go." Because Latricia had already made this statement to

Juanita, Juanita believed Wakevia when she, too, admitted that nothing had happened and that she had only said that it did when she was pressured to. T. 347.

Curtis Johnson testified that one day in October, he, Willie Ray, Wakevia, and Latricia went to Arthur Woods' house to watch BET. T. 357-58. Willie Ray was conducting some business with Arthur having to do with a car. T. 358. That was the only time he was at Arthur Woods' house the same time as Latricia. T. 358. He was never out of the presence of Woods or Latricia long enough for them to have had sex that night. T. 358.

Arthur's twenty-two year-old son, Kendrick Anderson, a student at Mississippi State, testified that Latricia came to his father's house one time and knocked on the door at 3 in the morning. T. 367. Kendrick stated that his father had told him that Latricia, who lived across the street, had no business being at his house so Kendrick called Latricia's father who seemed shocked that Latricia was out so late. Kendrick testified that he thinks Latricia's father whipped her. T. 367.

Loretta Davis McLea testified that she dated Arthur Woods for about seven years and lives with him. One Friday evening in October she was in the bedroom when she heard some male and female voices coming from the front of the house.

T. 374.

The jury found Arthur Woods guilty of Count II, statutory rape of Latricia Palmer. CP. 48; RE. 19.

At the sentencing hearing, Arthur's mother and pastor testified on his behalf. T. 433-437. The court handed down a sentence of thirty years and imposed court costs of \$561.50.

Mr. Woods was allowed to post bond pending appeal. CP. 76.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is a case based on the testimony of a single witness who recanted her allegations before trial and then unrecanted them at trial. Her credibility, then, was really the sole issue in the case. The errors presented below are mostly evidentiary issues along with some instances of prosecutorial misconduct. What is striking about the trial court's rulings in this case is that the court erred on the side of giving the prosecution the most leeway in proving its case, even making erroneous rulings to do so, but applied nonexistent restrictions to the defense to prevent it from fairly defending against the allegations. The result was an unfair trial.

This started out with the prosecution, over objection, asking the witnesses to vouch for the truthfulness of the alleged victims' statements that they had had sex with the defendant. The trial court then refused to allow the defense to query one of the alleged victims with a prior consistent statement but allowed the prosecution to elicit hearsay evidence to bolster its case. The prosecution was allowed to impeach the recanting victim with her grand jury testimony even though such testimony was never provided in discovery to the defense. The

prosecution committed misconduct by using the hearsay evidence that should never have been admitted in the first place as substantive evidence against Arthur Woods.

All in all, the evidence was insufficient to support the jury's verdict.

Although the defense contends that any one of these errors supports a new trial, when taken together, a new trial must be ordered in light of the weakness of the prosecution's case.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

1. The prosecution committed misconduct in having the witnesses vouch for the truthfulness of the complainants' allegations of statutory rape and in vouching for the truth of Latricia's testimony.

This is a case based solely on the testimony of a single victim. There was no physical evidence and the second alleged victim testified that there was no rape – statutory or otherwise – of either girl. And, in fact, both alleged victims had gone back and forth as to whether they had ever had sex with the defendant. Credibility, then, was key. Because it was so important, the prosecution repeatedly asked questions designed to bolster the credibility of the girls' statements when they claimed that they had sex with Arthur Woods (as opposed to their statements recanting the allegations). Given that the credibility of the initial allegations was everything in this case, the prosecution's action were anything but harmless. Moreover, the trial court repeatedly sustained objections to this tactic. The

prosecution continued asking improper questions notwithstanding the objections and, in most of the cases, the desired testimony was elicited from the witness even when the court upheld the defendant's objection.

For instance, at the conclusion of Betty Brown's direct examination, the prosecution asked her whether she believed what Latricia told her in October, 2003, when she stated that she and Wakevia had had sex with Arthur Woods. Betty answered and the prosecution repeated the question even after the trial court sustained defense counsel's objection. The exchange went as follows:

Q. That night back in October did you believe what she was saying?

A. Yeah.

Mr. Lumumba: That's irrelevant.

The Court: That objection is sustained.

Q. Go ahead, Ms. Brown.

A. Yeah, I really believed her.

The Court: The objection is sustained.

T. 158; RE. 20.

On redirect, the prosecution attempted the same tactic.

Q. Now how long have you been living in the house?

A. I say about seven or sight years.

Q. Since she was four years old.

A. Yeah.

Q. Can you tell when she's lying to you or when she's telling the truth?

A. Yeah.

Mr. Lumumba: Objection.

A. Yeah.

Mr. Lumumba: Excuse me.

A. Because I know her that well.

Mr. Lumumba: Excuse me, Judge. Objection.

A. I sure do.

The Court: Well, the objection is sustained.

T. 163-64; RE. 21-22.

When Latricia's father testified, the prosecution tried again to have the witness vouch for his daughter. This time, though, when the prosecution asked "Mr. Nichols, that night – did you believe what she was telling you that night," the defense's objection was sustained before Mr. James was able to answer. T. 69.

Deputy Radford, though, was able to get his opinion to the jury before the court could rule on the defense's objection.

Q Could you tell if these girls were lying that night?

A. No.

Mr. Lumumba: Excuse me - - -

A. No, sir, they weren't lying.

Mr. Lumumba: Excuse me. Hold it. Objection. How is going to testify whether the girls were lying?

The Court: Well that objection is sustained.

T. 181, RE. 24.

When Latricia took the stand, the prosecution asked her, "You and I talked for a while yesterday, didn't we?" Latricia responded, "yes." She was then asked, "and you told me that you were going to tell the truth and tell the jury exactly how you felt?" T. 266; R.E. 25. The defendant's objection was sustained (CT. 267; RE. 267), but, as in the colloquys reprinted above, the information was already before the jury.

Having Latricia's relatives and the deputy testify that they believed the girls when they said that they had had sex with the defendant was improper vouching and error for several reasons. First of all, the questioning is argumentative. The witness on the stand is called to testify about his perceptions, not those of another witness; comparing and contrasting the witnesses' testimony is for the lawyer to do during closing argument, not during cross-examination.

Secondly, the questions ask the witness to give an improper, inadmissible opinion. The witness is being asked for an opinion as to the truthfulness of another witness's **testimony**. This, however, is improper under Rule 701 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. With the proper foundation, the witness could be asked for an opinion as to the other witness's **character** for truthfulness or untruthfulness under M.R.E. 608, but the witness cannot give an opinion as to the truthfulness of the witness's statements.

And, finally, the questions are irrelevant to the extent they invade the province of the jury. *Hart v. State*, 637 So.2d 1329 (Miss. 1994). It is the jury's

role to evaluate credibility of witnesses and decide the relative reliability of the facts. A witness's opinion of the credibility of another witness's testimony is therefore irrelevant.

The difference between questions regarding a witness's credibility and those designed to have the witness testify regarding the truthfulness of a particular statement was explained by the Mississippi Court of Appeals in *Smith v. State*, 925 So.2d 825 (Miss.App. 2006). An opinion as to a witness's credibility goes to the witness's capacity for belief. *Smith*, 925 So.2d at 836 n. 16. Vouching for a witness's veracity involves an opinion as to whether a witness is being truthful; it has "a weightier effect" and is inadmissible. *Id*.

In *Grifffith v. State*, 584 So.2d 383 (Miss. 1991), the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed a conviction where a witness was allowed to testify that she believed the ten-year-old victim when the ten-year-old stated that the defendant had fondled her. The witness was the victim's teacher. She testified that that the victim "could not have told this story twice and almost word for word if she h ad not experienced it. That is the reason why I truly believe her." *Griffith*, 584 So.2d at 386. In finding this testimony to have been admitted in error, the court stated, "[a] direct opinion offered by a witness in a child sexual abuse case as to the child's veracity has been held by a majority of courts to be inadmissible." *Griffith*, 584 So.2d at 387.

The Mississippi cases distinguishing between questions designed to elicit an opinion as to the general truthfulness of the victim or witness and improper

questions designed to elicit an endorsement of a victim or witness's particular statement are in accord with the law in other jurisdictions. See, e.g., United States v. Akitoye, 923 F.2d 221, 224-225 (1st Cir. 1991) (describing the difference between the objectionable "was-the-witness-lying" question and the "more palatable" question inquiring into the existence of any known basis for bias on the part of another witness); United States v. Freitag, 230 F.3d 1019, 1024 (7th Cir. 2000) (finding, in prosecution for mail fraud and related charges, trial judge erred, but harmlessly, by allowing prosecutor to cross-examine defendant about whether she or other witnesses were telling the truth; the appellate court observing that the "government's cross-examination of [defendant] was far from model"); United States v. Geston, 299 F.3d 1130, 1135-37 (9th Cir. 2002) (reversing on "due process" grounds defendant's convictions for assault and use of force under color of law, because trial judge allowed prosecutor to cross-examine law enforcement officers about veracity of other witnesses' testimony); United States v. Jae Shik Cha, 97 F.3d 1462 (9th Cir. 1996) discussing United States v. Hinton, 31 F.3d 817, 824-25 (9th Cir. 1994) and United States v. Richter, 826 F.2d 206, 208-09 (2d Cir. 1987) (finding, in prosecution for conspiracy to distribute methamphetamine and money laundering, trial judge harmlessly erred by allowing government counsel to cross-examine defendant about whether other witnesses were lying when they testified inconsistently with his testimony).

In this case, the questioning was no less than prosecutorial misconduct.

The prosecutor knew, at least after the trial court sustained the defendant's first

objection, that questioning the witnesses as to the veracity of the statements made by the girls when they claimed that they did have sex with Arthur Woods was improper. The prosecution nevertheless continued to ask these questions and, indeed, obtained the desired testimony. Such wilfull misconduct cannot be allowed to go unpunished. In this case, where the credibility of the initial allegations was the **only** issue in the trial, the prosecution's misconduct was sufficient to undermine confidence in the jury's verdict. The resulting verdict and conviction must be reversed.

2. The trial court erred in refusing to allow the defense to play a prior consistent statement made by Wakevia Hill.

The prosecution called as one of its witnesses Wakevia who testified on direct that she had fabricated the allegations of sex with Arthur Woods under duress and that she had never had sex with the defendant. The prosecution then proceeded to impeach her with prior inconsistent statements. On cross-examination, the defense, in order to rebut the prosecution's theory that Wakevia was lying when she recanted the allegations, attempted to put into evidence the previous statement Wakevia made to a defense investigator. In that statement, Wakevia she denied that anything had happened between herself and Arthur Woods. The trial court, however, sustained the prosecution's objection and refused, on the grounds that it was hearsay, to allow the statement to be introduced. T. 239.

M.R.E. 801 (d)(1)(b) allows a party to introduce a prior consistent statement where "[th]e declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is ... consistent with his testimony and is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against him of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive." M.R.E. 801(d)(1)(b). See also Wells v. State, 849 So.2d 1231 (Miss. 2003); Jackson v. State, 766 So.2d 795, 808 (Miss.Ct.App.2000); State v. Saltz, 551 S.E.2d 240 (S.C. 2001) (trial court erred in not allowing defense to play a prior consistent statement of its witness to rebut allegations of recent fabrication and improper motive).

The error could hardly be harmless. The ruling denied Woods his right to present a defense. The only proof of the prosecution's case against Arthur Woods was the statements made by the victims. Here, where credibility was everything, the jury and Arthur Woods were entitled to hear everything bearing on credibility. The trial court, however, consistently allowed the prosecution to present any and all evidence to support the veracity of the statements that the girls did have sex with Arthur Woods but refused to allow Arthur Woods to attack those statements as he was allowed to do under the rules.

The trial court's ruling refusing to allow the defense to introduce evidence of a prior consistent statement was error. This is especially so in light of the unevenness of the trial court's rulings.

3. The trial court erred in allowing the prosecution to cross-examine Wakevia with her grand jury testimony where that testimony was not provided to the defendant.

The prosecution impeached Wakevia by questioning her about what she said to the grand jury. Defense counsel objected to this as a discovery violation, inasmuch as the grand jury testimony had never been provided to the defense. T. 249. The trial court overruled the objection – not because the defense was not entitled to the discovery but on the basis that grand jury testimony was not "transcribed traditionally around here." T. 249.

The trial court's ruling was error. Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules 4.06(a)(1) and 4.09 clearly contemplate that grand jury testimony given by witnesses for the state be disclosed to the defendant in discovery. *Harris v. State*, 901 S.2d 1277, 1279 (Miss.App. 2004).

9.04(A) and (I) requires that when there is a discovery violation, the court must grant a continuance or exclude the testimony. The trial court in this case did neither. Again, this was another example of the trial court applying the rules in an uneven manner to allow the prosecution greater latitude to prove its case than it did to the defendant to defend himself. The overall effect of these rulings denied Arthur Woods a fair trial.

4. The trial court erred in allowing the prosecution to elicit hearsay.

During the direct examination of Latricia, the prosecution had her read from the note that started the investigation. The trial court overruled the defense's

hearsay objection ruling that the prosecution could use it to show state of mind. T. 262-63. And although Latricia was unable to read the note at first (T. 265), the prosecution was eventually able to have Latricia read much of the note over the defendant's repeated objections. T. 275-279

The prosecution then proceeded to read parts of the note to the jury during closing argument.

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