IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ARTHUR WOODS

VS.

FILED

APPELLANT

APR 2 3 2007

Office of the Cler Supreme Court

NO. 2006-KA-0417-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of Leflore County indicted defendant, Arthur Woods, for the crime of Statutory Rape (Two Counts) in violation of *Miss. Code Ann.* § 97-3-65(1)(a). (Indictment, as amended c.p.28). After a trial by jury, Judge W. Ashley Hines presiding, the jury found defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of Count II. The trial court had dismissed Count I of the indictment at the conclusion of the State's case. Subsequently, the trial court sentenced defendant to 30 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections plus assessments, court costs and fees. (C.p. 40).

After denial of post-trial motions this instant appeal was timely noticed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant had sex one evening with a minor. Eventually, word spread and she accused defendant. Defendant was indicted. Later, the victim recanted and then at trial testified that defendant had sexually penetrated her. The victim was fourteen and defendant was 51. The jury heard the evidence, the recantations, the conflicting testimony and impeached testimonial statements... they heard it all and found defendant guilty as charged.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I.

WHEN THE JUDGE SUSTAINED THE OBJECTION THERE WAS NO ERROR.

Issue II.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT – IT WAS HEARSAY AND IT WAS INADMISSIBLE.

Issue III.

THERE WAS NO DISCOVERY VIOLATION.

Issue IV.

THERE WAS NO 'ELICITING' OF HEARSAY BY THE STATE.

Issue V.

THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Issue VI.

THERE WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT WHICH IS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND NOT AN UNCONSCIONABLE INJUSTICE.

Issue VII.

THERE IS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ANY PART, SO THERE IS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR TO THE WHOLE.

ARGUMENT

Issue I.

WHEN THE JUDGE SUSTAINED THE OBJECTION THERE WAS NO ERROR.

In this initial allegation of error defendant, aided by counsel, asserts the State improperly had witnesses 'vouch' for the truthfulness of the victim.

¶ 12.... "It is well settled that when the trial judge sustains an objection to testimony and he directs the jury to disregard it, prejudicial error does not result." Estes v. State, 533 So.2d 437, 439 (Miss.1988).

Pittman v. State, 928 So.2d 244 (Miss.App. 2006).

Before the first object of any kind was raised the trial court instructed the jury that when he sustains an objection "...the evidence cannot be presented to the jury." Tr. 135. This idea of testimony that the jury might hear, yet not be evidence, was again brought to the attention in the trial court instructions to the jury. (Instruction One, C.p. 31-33).

Contrary to the allegations there was more than one witness at this trial. And, the reasons for 'lying' were explored by all parties, including defense counsel. (Tr. 177-80).

It is the succinct position of the State there was no improper vouching of testimony and no error occurred.

Consequently, the State would ask this court to deny all requested relief.

Issue II.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT – IT WAS HEARSAY AND IT WAS INADMISSIBLE.

During cross-examination of a State's witness, defense counsel sought to have a taped statement made by the witness admitted into evidence. The State objected and the trial court sustained the objection as hearsay.

¶85. "The relevancy and admissibility of evidence are largely within the discretion of the trial court and reversal may be had only where that discretion has been abused." Johnston v. State, 567 So.2d 237, 238 (Miss.1990)(citing Hentz v. State, 542 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss.1989); Monk v. State, 532 So.2d 592, 599 (Miss.1988)). "Unless [the trial judge's] discretion is so abused as to be prejudicial to the accused, this Court will not reverse his ruling." Shearer v. State, 423 So.2d 824, 826 (Miss.1982)(citing Page v. State, 295 So.2d 279 (Miss.1974)). "The discretion of the trial court must be exercised within the boundaries of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence." Johnston, 567 So.2d at 238.

Manning v. State, 726 So.2d 1152 (Miss. 1998).

The trial court by this point of the trial had sustained several objections to inadmissible hearsay and was consistent, – and more importantly correct in his analysis.

There was no error in the ruling of the trial court and no relief should be granted on this allegation of error.

Issue III. THERE WAS NO DISCOVERY VIOLATION.

Continuing the challenge to his conviction, defendant asserts there was a discovery violation. And, at trial, during the examination of a witness the State was attempting to impeach the witness by asking the essence of her statement before the grand jury – which was quite contrary to her testimony at trial.

Interestingly, there is absolutely no doubt, defendant and counsel knew what the basics of her grand jury testimony. And that is all the law requires. There was no surprise, no prejudice, – no error.

Interestingly, under similar circumstances the analysis on review held:

The Yates Court further clarified that the inquiry is not whether the jury considered the improper evidence or law at all, but rather, whether that error was "unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue in question, as revealed in the record." Yates, 500 U.S. at 403, 111 S.Ct. 1884.

Harris v. State, 901 So.2d 1277 (Miss.App. 2004).

In *Harris* the 'harmless error' was for the exclusion of the testimony. *Sub judice* defendant complains because it *was* being admitted. Such admission is not error.

There is no error and there was no discovery violation as defendant was well aware through other discovery the substance of this witness testimony.

Being no error, no relief should be granted.

Issue IV. THERE WAS NO 'ELICITING' OF HEARSAY BY THE STATE.

In this next allegation of error, defendant asserts hearsay, but wraps it up as a prosecutorial misconduct for presenting 'impeachment' evidence as substantive evidence.

Interestingly, it was defense counsel that quoted substantially from 'the note' during his closing argument. The State had merely mentioned once, that it was this note, written between two school girls, that got the investigation going.

During defense closing argument, counsel quoted from the note and the inference that could be drawn therefrom.

In the State's final closing the prosecutor did much the same. Quoted from the note, for impeachment purposes and drew conclusions and inferences therefrom... such is proper in closing argument.

¶ 20. Counsel is not required to be logical in [his] argument; he is not required to draw sound conclusions, or to have a perfect argument measured by logical and rhetorical rules; his function is to draw conclusions and inferences from evidence on behalf of his client in whatever way he deems proper, so long as he does not become abusive and go outside the confines of the record.

Dunigan v. State, 915 So.2d 1063 (Miss.App. 2005),

The impeachment evidence was used by the defense and State to show inferences and support for each of their positions.

There being no error no relief should be granted.

Issue V. THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

With two defense counsel sitting at counsel table the prosecutor outlined for the jury the procedural process for bring cases to the jury and the circumstances for dismissing some cases. There was no objection by either counsel. Silence.

It is the succinct position of the State this issue is procedurally barred.

¶ 190. Rubenstein also argues that the District Attorney expressed personal opinions about witnesses in the State's rebuttal closing argument. The record reflects that of the excerpts cited by Rubenstein, the defense made no contemporaneous objections. In United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 20, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 84 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985), the United States Supreme Court stated that bolstering statements made by the prosecution do not amount to plain error as to require reversal. As the defense did not raise any objection to preserve this assignment of error for appellate review, it is procedurally barred.

Rubenstein v. State, 941 So.2d 735 (Miss. 2006).

As noted in *Rubenstein*, this issue is procedurally barred and the State would argue it is also without merit in fact. The prosecutor was merely commenting on the evidence presented at trial (including the inconsistent stuff) and the basis for the decision for bringing it to trial. This is proper in summarizing the process and for the jury to know they will ultimately decide.

Again, there being no error all requested relief should be denied.

Issue VI.

THERE WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT WHICH IS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND NOT AN UNCONSCIONABLE INJUSTICE.

Defense counsel repeated asserts the victim's testimony was uncorroborated. So that counsel needn't make that same erroneous assertion in the future it is worth point out the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated. Such is not a requirement to support a conviction. As the reviewing court's of this State have repeatedly held:

¶ 6.... [T]he supreme court has held that a *victim's uncorroborated* testimony is sufficient to support a guilty verdict if the testimony is not contradicted or discredited by other evidence. Vaughan v. State, 759 So.2d 1092, 1098(¶ 18) (Miss.1999).

McClure v. State, 941 So.2d 896 (Miss.App. 2006)(emphasis added).

Additionally defendant asserts that since the testimony was recanted the original statements should be viewed differently as should the testimony at trial.

However, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that 'recanted' testimony and inferences therefrom may be used to support

When the standards described above are applied to the evidence in this case, affirmance on this assignment of error is required. The testimony of Norman Breland, the victim, *supplemented by the recanted testimony* of Freddie Williams, are more than sufficient unto the day. The trial judge correctly denied Robinson's request for a peremptory instruction as well as his subsequent motion for judgment of acquittal notwithstanding the verdict.

Robinson v. State, 473 So.2d 957 (Miss. 1985).

Again, there being no error and ample legally sufficient evidence no relief should be granted.

Issue VII.

THERE IS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ANY PART, SO THERE IS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR TO THE WHOLE.

It is the succinct position of the State defendant was afforded a fair trial by an impartial jury. The State as argued no reversible error has occurred and would cite the rationale of the reviewing Court's of this State in support of such a position.

¶ 29. West argues that the alleged cumulative errors require reversal. In Jenkins v. State, 607 So.2d 1171, 1183 (Miss.1992), this Court stated that "errors in the lower court that do not require reversal standing alone may [be] nonetheless when taken cumulatively require reversal." However, in this case sub judice, we find that no reversible error was committed. This Court stated where "there is no reversible error in any part, so there is no reversible error to the whole." Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777, 787 (Miss.1997). Since West has not shown any reversible error, this assignment of error is without merit.

West v. State, 820 So.2d 668, 674 (Miss. 2001).

¶21. Baggett contends that even if any of his assignments of error taken individually would be insufficient grounds for reversal, the cumulative effect of the trial court's errors deprived him of a fair trial and require reversal. Mitchell v. State, 539 So.2d 1366 (Miss.1989). Baggett is unable to present sufficient errors to constitute cumulative error.

Baggett v. State, 793 So.2d 630, 636-37 (Miss. 2001).

See also, *King v. State*, 788 So.2d 93, 98 (Miss. App. 2001).

No relief based upon this claim of cumulative error should be granted.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the verdict of the jury and sentence of the trial court.